1/18

SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

SID J. WHITE

MAR 19 1996

CHERK, SUPREME COURT

Charles Mark

CASE NO. 86,913

HTP, LTD., etc., et al.,

Petitioners

v.

LINEAS AERAS COSTARRICENSES, S.A., etc., et al.,

Respondents.

On Review Of A Decision Of The Third District Court Of Appeal Of Florida, Case No. 94-2779

## INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITYONERS

LESTER M. BRIDGEMAN
MILLER, HAMILTON, SNIDER &
ODOM, L.L.C.
P.O. Box 46
Mobile, Alabama 36601
(334) 432-1414
FAX: (334) 433-4106

and

EAWRENCE R. METSCH METSCH & METSCH, P.A. Suite 416 19 W. Flagler Street Miami, Florida 33130 (305) 358-7773 FAX: (305) 358-7877

Attorneys for Petitioners

#

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This case arises out of the 1990 settlement of prior contract litigation between the parties in which the parties had exchanged accusations of fraud. The 1990 Settlement Agreement required, inter alia, future payments by Respondent Lineas Aereas Costarricenses, S.A. ("LACSA"), to Petitioners HTP, Ltd. ("HTP"), Tyler Corporation ("Tyler") and Stephen H. Gamble ("Gamble") to begin not more than two years after the date of settlement. When HTP, Tyler and Gamble requested those later payments from LACSA, LACSA sued on the contract in the Circuit Court, for a declaratory judgment that it was not liable for additional payments. LACSA later amended its complaint to allege fraud by HTP, Tyler and Gamble in the inducement to enter into settlement of the earlier fraud claims. In its amended complaint, LACSA elected to stand on the Settlement Agreement and to seek tort damages only.

Overruling the contentions of HTP, Tyler and Gamble that the claim was barred by the economic loss rule, and inconsistent with Florida law on justifiable reliance, the Circuit Court permitted the case to go to the jury, which returned a verdict for tort damages against HTP, Tyler and Gamble for fraud in the inducement. The judgment entered thereon was affirmed by the Third District Court of Appeal of Florida. HTP, Ltd. v. Lineas Aereas Costarricenses, S.A., 661 So. 2d 1221 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995).

On February 19, 1996, this Court accepted jurisdiction of this case to decide the following question:

DOES THE ECONOMIC LOSS RULE BAR A CONTRACTING PARTY FROM RECOVERING ECONOMIC DAMAGES FROM ANOTHER CONTRACTING PARTY FOR THE INTENTIONAL TORT OF FRAUD IN THE INDUCEMENT?<sup>1</sup>

If this Court were to answer the foregoing question in the negative, HTP, Tyler and Gamble respectfully invite this Court to consider two (2) additional questions which were resolved adversely to them by the Third District in Case No. 94-2779:

DID THE CIRCUIT COURT COMMIT REVERSIBLE ERROR IN DENYING HTP, TYLER AND GAMBLE BOTH A DIRECTED VERDICT AND A JUSTIFIABLE RELIANCE JURY INSTRUCTION ON FRAUD DERIVED FROM THE THIRD DISTRICT'S OPINION IN PIETER BAKKER MANAGEMENT, INC. V. FIRST FEDERAL SAVINGS AND LOAN ASSOCIATION?<sup>2</sup>

DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR WHEN, OVER THE OBJECTIONS OF HTP, TYLER AND GAMBLE, THAT COURT ADOPTED A JURY VERDICT FORM WHICH PREVENTED THE JURY FROM SEPARATELY CONSIDERING HTP'S COUNTERCLAIM FOR BREACH OF THE 1990 SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT?

This question has been answered in the affirmative by the Second District Court of Appeal of Florida. See, Woodson v. Martin, 663 So. 2d 1327 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995)(en banc), Raymond James & Associates, Inc. v. PK Ventures, Inc., 666 So. 2d 174 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995), and Linn-Well Development Corporation v. Preston & Farley, Inc., 666 So. 2d 558 (Fla. 2d DCA 1996). The Third and Fourth District Courts of Appeal of Florida have answered this question in the negative. See, HTP, Ltd. v. Lineas Aereas Costarricenses, S.A., 661 So. 2d 1221 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995), TGI Development, Inc. v. CV Reit, Inc., 665 So. 2d 366 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996), and Jarmco, Inc. v. Polygard, Inc., So. 2d \_\_\_, 21 FLW D478, (Fla. 4th DCA, 1996).

Pieter Bakker Management Services, Inc. v. First Federal Savings And Loan Association, 541 So. 2d 1334 (Fla. 3d DCA), review denied, 549 So. 2d 1014 (Fla. 1989).

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE<sup>3</sup>

LACSA is a Costa Rican airline. HTP is a Bermuda corporation. Tyler is a Connecticut corporation and Gamble is a resident of Connecticut. HTP is in the business of brokering the purchase, sale and lease of aircraft, and of advising on aircraft equipment matters.

On September 11, 1992, LACSA sued HTP and Gamble seeking a judicial declaration that LACSA was not obligated to make further payments to HTP and Gamble under a settlement agreement settling prior litigation ("the Settlement Agreement"). Lineas Aereas Costarricenses, S.A. v. HTP, Ltd., et al., Case No. 92-19943, General Jurisdiction Division, Eleventh Circuit Court, Dade County, Florida ("Case No. 92-19943").

HTP and Gamble answered LACSA's complaint and HTP counterclaimed against LACSA and its affiliate, LACSA International, Inc. ("LACSA Int.")<sup>5</sup>, for breach of the Settlement Agreement (Count I) and for fraud and deceit (Count II).<sup>6</sup>

<sup>3</sup> The following references will appear in this brief:

<sup>(</sup>a) Record on Appeal: "R. ."

<sup>(</sup>b) Trial Transcript: "TR. ."

<sup>(</sup>c) Trial Exhibits: "PX ."

<sup>(</sup>d) Petitioners' Appendix: "App. ."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> R. 2-31.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> LACSA and LACSA International, Inc., will hereinafter be collectively referred to as "LACSA".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> R. 32-74.

LACSA on February 11, 1993, answered HTP's breach of contract counterclaim<sup>7</sup> and, invoking the economic loss rule, moved to dismiss HTP's counterclaim for fraud and deceit.<sup>8</sup> HTP, on May 11, 1993, voluntarily dismissed Count II (fraud and deceit) of its counterclaim, without prejudice.<sup>9</sup>

On September 8, 1993, LACSA's motion for leave to file a first amended complaint and a first amended answer to HTP's counterclaim<sup>10</sup> was granted.<sup>11</sup>

LACSA's first amended complaint named HTP, Gamble and Tyler as defendants and characterized them as alter egos. LACSA's first amended complaint alleged in Count I that it had been fraudulently induced by HTP, Tyler and Gamble to enter into the Settlement Agreement; in Count II, that HTP, Tyler and Gamble had perpetrated a constructive fraud upon LACSA resulting in LACSA's execution of the Settlement Agreement; and, in Count III, restated its original claim for declaratory relief based upon its interpretation of the Settlement Agreement. LACSA sought tort damages in Counts I and II. LACSA's first amended answer to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> R. 78-81.

<sup>8</sup> R. 82-83.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> R. 158-159.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> R. 208-276.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> R. 288-289.

Following the decision in HTP, Ltd. v. Lineas Aereas Costarricenses, S.A., 634 So. 2d 724 (Fla. 3d DCA 1994), Petitioners filed a pleading in the Circuit Court admitting that, for purposes of the litigation, they were alter egos of one another.

HTP's counterclaim interposed the affirmative defense that it had been fraudulently induced to enter into the Settlement Agreement.

HTP, Tyler and Gamble, on September 23, 1993, answered LACSA's first amended complaint by denying liability, 13 and denied the allegations of LACSA's fraudulent inducement affirmative defense to HTP's counterclaim. 14

On October 5, 1994, the Circuit Court denied the motion of HTP, Tyler and Gamble for summary judgment<sup>15</sup> and Case No. 92-19943 went to trial before Circuit Judge Martin D. Kahn and a jury on Monday, October 31, 1994. On November 3, 1994, the jury, answering special verdict interrogatories, found that:

- (a) HTP, Tyler and Gamble had fraudulently induced LACSA to enter into the Settlement Agreement; and
- (b) as a result of that fraud, LACSA had suffered \$571,784.00 in damages.

The Circuit Court, on November 9, 1994, entered a Final Judgment on the jury's verdict awarding LACSA tort damages in the total sum, including pre-judgment interest, of \$898,687.79. 16 Abiding by the court-approved verdict form, the jury gave no consideration to HTP's counterclaim for breach of the Settlement Agreement.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> R. 307-317.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> R. 318-319.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> R. 868.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> R. 1045-1046.

HTP, Tyler and Gamble, on November 9, 1994, moved (a) for a new trial; 17 (b) for judgment in accordance with their motions for directed verdict; 18 and (c) to alter or amend the Final Judgment. 19 The Circuit Court, on November 22, 1994, denied all three (3) post-trial motions. 20 A Notice of Appeal was filed on behalf of HTP, Tyler and Gamble with the Clerk of the Circuit Court on November 29, 1994. 21 On December 22, 1994, LACSA filed its Notice of Cross Appeal with the Clerk of the Circuit Court. 22

On December 6, 1994, HTP, Tyler and Gamble posted with the Clerk of the Circuit Court a supersedeas bond in the penal sum of \$1,114,372.96,23 thereby staying the issuance of a writ of execution. An agreed order taxing \$6,000.00 in costs was entered by the Circuit Court on December 8, 1994.24

The Third District, in Case No. 94-2779 on September 13, 1995, affirmed the Circuit Court's Final Judgment. HTP, Ltd. v. Lineas Aereas Costarricenses, S.A., supra. HTP, Tyler and Gamble's motions for rehearing, rehearing en banc and certification were denied on November 15, 1995.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> R. 975-978.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> R. 970-974.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> R. 966-969.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> R. 1047.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> R. 1031-1036.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> R. 1041-1044.

 $<sup>^{23}</sup>$  App. 1-3.

 $<sup>^{24}</sup>$  App. 4-5.

On November 20, 1995, HTP, Tyler and Gamble invoked this Court's discretionary jurisdiction.

On December 20, 1995, the Third District denied the motion of HTP, Tyler and Gamble, to withhold its mandate in Case No. 94-2779 pending this Court's disposition of their application for review.

On December 26, 1995, HTP, Tyler and Gamble petitioned this Court for a Writ of Prohibition requiring the Third District to withhold or withdraw its mandate in Case No. 94-2779. That petition was denied on February 23, 1996.

The Circuit Court, on January 16, 1996, in Case No. 92-19943 on LACSA's motion entered an order directing the supersedeas surety, International Fidelity Insurance Company, forthwith to pay the Final Judgment and Agreed Order Taxing Costs, with interest.

Over the protest of HTP, Tyler and Gamble, the surety thereafter paid the Final Judgment and Agreed Order Taxing Costs to LACSA.

of Florida, et al., Case No. 87,095, Supreme Court of Florida.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On August 11, 1982, Gamble, as president of Tyler, signed a Consulting/Advisory Agreement with LACSA under which Gamble agreed to render financial advisory services to LACSA with respect to aircraft financing.

Prior to 1984, with Gamble's help, LACSA had entered into a lease agreement with Singapore Airlines ("the Singapore lease") under which LACSA leased from Singapore Airlines a Boeing 727 jet aircraft registered with the Federal Aviation Administration ("the FAA") as N200LR. The Singapore lease granted LACSA the option to purchase N200LR.

As the term of the Singapore lease came to an end, LACSA sought financing in order to purchase N200LR.

On or about March 15, 1984, after LACSA had been unable to obtain other financing, HTP and LACSA entered into a written loan agreement ("the 1984 loan agreement") pursuant to which HTP lent LACSA the \$1,900,000.00 which it needed in order to purchase N200LR. Onder the 1984 loan agreement, HTP obtained a conditional residual sharing interest ("the RSI") in N200LR, the amount of which was to increase gradually with the increasing time lapse in LACSA's payment of the loan amount. The RSI ultimately equalled 27.5% of the value of the aircraft.

LACSA exercised the purchase option in the Singapore lease and took title to N200LR.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> PX 2. App. 6-36.

In 1987, when neither the HTP loan nor HTP's residual sharing interest had been paid, LACSA refinanced N200LR by borrowing \$10,000,000.00 from Lockheed Finance Corp. ("Lockheed") and mortgaging the aircraft. HTP claimed that that transaction and granting a chattel mortgage on the aircraft constituted an anticipatory breach of the RSI provision of the 1984 loan agreement and demanded that LACSA pay more than \$3,000,000.00 in breach of contract damages.

On June 24, 1988, LACSA filed a pre-emptive suit against HTP in the U.S. District Court, S.D. Florida, seeking a declaration that LACSA was not indebted to HTP. <u>LACSA International, Inc. v. HTP, Ltd.</u>, Case No. 88-1164-Civ-Ryskamp.<sup>27</sup> That action was dismissed on May 8, 1989, for lack of diversity jurisdiction.

On July 26, 1988, HTP sued LACSA for breach of contract, conversion and fraud damages in California State Court. HTP, Ltd. v. Lineas Aereas Costarricenses, S.A., et al., Case No. C 693 548, Superior Court, Los Angeles County ("the California State Court action"). 28

Anticipating the dismissal of its Florida Federal Court lawsuit, on January 30, 1989, LACSA sued HTP, Tyler and Gamble in the Eleventh Circuit Court, Dade County, Florida, for breach of contract, conspiracy to violate fiduciary duties, and fraud. Lineas Aereas Costarricenses, S.A. v. Tyler Corporation, et al., Case No. 89-4268 (CA 10), General Jurisdiction Division ("the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> PX 4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> PX 5. PX 20. App. 37-38.

Florida State Court action").29

In the Spring of 1989, Gamble, with two expensive lawsuits still pending, engaged Mr. J. Christopher Mallick ("Mallick"), a Texan with Costa Rican business interests, to contact Mr. Mario Quiros ("Quiros"), LACSA's president, and encourage LACSA to begin settlement negotiations directly with Gamble.<sup>30</sup> In his approach to Quiros, Mallick identified himself as a "friend" of Gamble's.<sup>31</sup> Mallick did not inform Quiros that Gamble had promised to pay Mallick for jump-starting settlement negotiations.

Mallick then met with Quiros in Costa Rica and suggested that Quiros and Gamble should meet, without attorneys, to try to resolve the litigation. Quiros agreed, and Gamble and Quiros met in New York City in August, 1989.

Following a second Quiros-Gamble meeting, Quiros appointed Mr. Gerardo Jaspers ("Jaspers"), then LACSA's financial director, to represent LACSA in settlement negotiations with Gamble.

Jaspers and Gamble then entered into direct, protracted settlement negotiations.<sup>32</sup>

On December 20, 1989, Quiros wrote a memorandum, entitled "HTP Litigation", to Mr. Shuichi Yaginuma, representing LACSA's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> PX 6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> PX 13.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> PX 19. App. 39.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> TR. 84-87; TR. 752-754; 777-778; 799.

principal stockholder. 33 Pertinent excerpts from that memorandum follow:

"I would like to explain the current situation regarding the HTP lawsuit claiming 27.5% ownership of one Boeing 727-200 property of LACSA International.

- "3- Section 5 of the Loan Agreement granted HTP as additional consideration for making the loan, a Residual Sharing Interest of 27.5 in the aircraft based on whatever the market value is in March of 1991.
- "4- This means that if in 1991 the aircraft maintains a value of US\$12,000,000.00, LACSA would have to pay HTP the sum of US\$3,300,000.00.
- "8- Thus, we are confronted with the risk of having to pay HTP in 1991 about US\$3,300,000.00 for having made that loan.
- "9- We have been discussing the possibility of reaching an out of court settlement with HTP and have reached in principle the following agreement:
  - 1) HTP would suspend all lawsuit against LACSA and LACSA would also suspend its lawsuit against HTP and Steve Gamble.
  - 2) The 1984 Loan Agreement would be invalidated and cancelled.
  - 3) As financial settlement LACSA would pay HTP:
    - a) US\$250,000.00 by January 15, 1990.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> PX 56. App. 40-41.

- b) US\$250,000.00 by April 15, 1990.
- c) Grant HTP a 2% fee on sale price of each of the three 727 LACSA owns plus the DC8 when they are sold.
- d) LACSA would finish an Advisory Agreement signed by Tyler Corporation valued at US\$70,000.00.

"10- The net result of this settlement is that LACSA would be paying HTP about US\$1,300,000.00 over the next year with the proceeds of the sale of its 727 aircraft fleet.

"We feel this solution, though painful for LACSA is better than the risk of loosen [sic] the lawsuit and having to pay at that time over US\$3.3 million.

"Also, it allows us to sell the 727 involved in the litigation which is necessary in order to buy the spare parts for the Airbus A320."

Until December, 1989, Jaspers and Gamble had negotiated with each other without the participation of counsel. During that month, LACSA engaged the Washington, D.C., office of Squires, Sanders & Dempsey, its long-time regulatory affairs counsel, to assist it in settlement negotiations with Gamble.

In the absence of any agreement by December 31, 1989, Gamble terminated negotiations with Jaspers.

Negotiations resumed, at LACSA's suggestion, after January 3, 1990. Thereafter, Jaspers and Gamble met privately in Miami, Florida, on January 24, 1990, and reached an agreement. On January 26, 1990, a "Memorandum Agreement" of settlement was executed. The Settlement Agreement was signed on February 9,

1990. Quiros signed the Settlement Agreement on LACSA's behalf after consultation with Jaspers who had, in turn, been advised by LACSA's Washington, D.C., counsel.<sup>34</sup>

The Settlement Agreement provided in summary that: (a) the California and Florida State Court actions would be dismissed, with prejudice; (b) the parties would exchange mutual general releases; (c) LACSA would pay the total sum of \$571,784.92 to HTP and Tyler no later than May 10, 1990; (d) LACSA would pay HTP an additional \$750,000.00 by February 9, 1992, and \$100,000.00 by February 9, 1995.

LACSA paid the required \$571,784.92 by May 1, 1990. In the more than two years following the execution of the Settlement Agreement, LACSA made no complaint about or objection to the terms of settlement. But LACSA made no later required payments, despite repeated HTP demands. In September, 1992, LACSA initiated Case No. 92-19943, seeking a declaratory judgment that the Settlement Agreement did not require payment of any additional amounts to HTP. During pre-trial discovery proceedings, LACSA allegedly learned that Mallick had been paid for his services by HTP. Thereafter, LACSA amended its pleadings to add a claim that it had been fraudulently induced to enter into the Settlement Agreement. It neither requested rescission of that agreement nor did it did claim that HTP, Tyler and Gamble had breached. It sought only tort damages.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> TR. 120. App. 42.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> <u>See, e.g.</u>, PX 73. App. 43.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I. THE THIRD DISTRICT ERRED BY HOLDING THAT THE "ECONOMIC LOSS RULE" DOES NOT BAR A CONTRACTING PARTY FROM RECOVERING ECONOMIC DAMAGES FROM ANOTHER CONTRACTING PARTY FOR THE INTENTIONAL TORT OF FRAUD IN THE INDUCEMENT.

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