0A 5-29-96 D-1-1 IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA HTP, LTD., et al., CASE NO. 86,913 Petitioners) vs TR 18 976 LINEAS AEREAS COSTARRICENSES <u>_</u>____ S.A., et al. The I growing the Respondents)

Discretionary Review of a Decision of the District Court of Appeal of Florida Third District, Case No. 94-2779

RESPONDENTS' ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Richard Hyland, Esq. Florida Bar #831336 William J. Brown, Esq. Florida Bar #103653 777 Brickell Avenue, Suite 1114 Miami, Florida 33131 (305)374-2280; Fax (305)375-0022 and Carl H. Hoffman, Esq. Florida Bar #118997 Hoffman and Hertzig 241 Sevilla Avenue, Suite 900 Coral Gables, Florida 33134 (305) 445-3100; Fax (305)444-5656

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Discretionary jurisdiction has been granted in this case because of a conflict between the Second and the Third District Courts of Appeal. In <u>Woodson v. Martin</u>, the Second District seems to have abrogated the cause of action for fraud in the inducement in any case in which the damages result only in economic loss. In the case at bar, the Third District, on the contrary, held that,

when the fraud in the inducement represents an independent tort, the fraud claim is not barred by the economic loss rule. Even before arguing the merits of the <u>Woodson</u> decision, it is worth noting that the Second District stands all by itself. In its economic loss rule jurisprudence, this Court has always emphasized that the economic loss rule does not bar claims that are independent of a breach of contract. The four other District Courts of Appeal in Florida have now all held that fraud in the inducement is not barred by the economic loss rule. In fact, diligent research has revealed no American jurisdiction that sets up an absolute bar to a claim for fraud in the inducement merely because it results in economic loss. Other common and civilian jurisdictions agree.

The reason for the universal rejection of the Second District's position is easy to understand. The victim of a fraudulently-induced contract almost never suffers anything other than economic loss. If the cause of action for fraud in the inducement is barred as soon as the contract is concluded, then the fraud becomes immune from attack whenever it succeeds. All the Ponzis of the world would take the next flight to Florida.

In the instant case, the reasons to reject the bar, and to permit LACSA to sue for the damages caused by the fraud, are particularly compelling. For, in this case, Petitioners never breached the settlement agreements. They did not have to. Once they manipulated LACSA into accepting their terms, they had no reason not to perform their own part of the "bargain." If fraud in the inducement does not survive in a case in which there has been no breach of contract by the fraudfeasor, then there is no substance to the doctrine of the independent tort, no remaining

force in the cause of action for fraud in the inducement, and, for all practical purposes, no judicial remedy for harm caused by intentionally deceptive conduct.

After this Court granted discretionary review, Petitioners raised two further arguments for reversal that also were rejected by both the trial and the appellate courts. In the first argument, Petitioners assert that LACSA's reliance on the fraudulent misrepresentations was unjustified. Second, Petitioners attempt to reinstate their counterclaim for LACSA's alleged breach of the fraudulently-induced settlement agreements.

As far as the justifiable reliance issue is concerned, Petitioners argue that, as a matter of law, LACSA could not justifiably rely on the fraudulent representations made by Petitioners. Petitioners contend the jury should have been instructed that, when parties to a suit for fraud discuss settlement, the victim cannot rely on representations made by the alleged tortfeasor during the settlement negotiations. LACSA had sued Petitioners for fraud. However, LACSA never relied on representations made by Petitioners. LACSA relied rather on the representations made by Mallick, Petitioners' undisclosed and paid agent. The rule does not apply to such a situation.

Finally, Petitioners argue that, even though LACSA was fraudulently induced to enter into the settlement agreements, LACSA still owes damages for its breach. There are two answers to this claim. First, if the agreement was fraudulently induced, no damages can be recovered for its breach -- even if the fraudulent party has already performed. Second, the jury in this case has already taken into account HTP's claim for breach of the settle-

ment agreements. The trial court instructed the jury that it could only award damages to LACSA if it found that LACSA had suffered a loss. The calculation of the amount, if any, owing to HTP under the settlement agreements was a necessary element of the loss determination. Even if Petitioners were correct in asserting that they may recover despite their fraud, there is nothing left for them to collect.

The lower court's opinion should be affirmed.

ARGUMENT

Petitioners make three arguments for reversal. The first regards the question for which this Court granted discretionary review. Petitioners argue that, in Florida, the cause of action for fraud in the inducement is barred by the economic loss rule. Second, Petitioners argue that, because, in an earlier action, LACSA had sued Petitioners for fraud, the jury should have been instructed that LACSA may not rely on Petitioners' fraudulent misrepresentations. Third, Petitioners argue that the verdict form should have explicitly required the jury to decide whether LACSA breached the settlement agreements.

None of Petitioners' arguments has merit.

I. Fraud in the Inducement Should Not Be Abandoned As a Cause of Action in Florida.

This Court granted discretionary review in this case to resolve a conflict between the Second and the Third District Courts of Appeal. In <u>Woodson v. Martin</u>, the Second District held that the nature of the damages suffered determines whether a plaintiff should sue in tort or in contract. <u>See Woodson v.</u>

Martin, 663 So. 2d 1327, 1329 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995)(en banc). When harm results only in economic loss, tort actions are barred by the economic loss rule, and suit must be brought in contract. <u>Id</u>.

In contrast, the Third District, in the case at bar, held that independent torts are not barred by the economic loss rule. <u>See HTP. Ltd. v. Lineas Aereas Costarricenses, S.A.</u>, 661 So. 2d 1221 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995). Since the trial court, in this case, properly ruled that Petitioners' fraud was independent of any contract claim, the Third District permitted the tort action.

In essence, this Court must choose one of these two re-The decision of the Third District is supported by this sults. Court's jurisprudence in the context of the economic loss rule as well as by the universality of courts, inside Florida and out, in America and abroad, in common law and civilian jurisdictions. Moreover, without the cause of action for fraud in the inducement, there would be, in practice, no further judicial remedy for intentionally deceptive behavior. The risk is especially great in cases such as HTP, Ltd., because here LACSA could not have sued for breach of contract -- the Petitioners never breached the settlement agreements. As far as the Woodson decision is concerned -- as Judge Altenbernd wrote in dissent -- it essentially abolishes the cause of action for fraud in Florida. Woodson v. Martin, 663 So. 2d at 1331 (Altenbernd, J., dissenting). One wonders who, beside professional parasites, may ever benefit from such a rule.

This Court should choose <u>HTP, Ltd</u>. over <u>Woodson</u>.

A. This Court's Case Law Expressly Contemplates an Independent Tort Exception to the Economic Loss Rule.

In <u>HTP. Ltd.</u>, the Third District carefully followed this Court's precedent. This Court has indicated that the economic loss rule bars only those tort claims that coincide with breach of contract claims. When there is "a tort 'distinguishable from or independent of [the] breach of contract,'" this Court has made clear that the economic loss rule does not bar the tort action. <u>AFM Corp. v. Southern Bell Telephone & Telegraph Co.</u>, 515 So. 2d 180, 181 (Fla. 1987). Imposing liability in such a case does not threaten to drown contract law in a sea of tort. <u>See Casa Clara Condominium Ass'n, Inc. v. Charley Toppino and Sons, Inc.</u>, 620 So. 2d 1244, 1247 (Fla. 1993).

Similarly, in <u>Airport Rent-a-Car</u>, this Court recognized the independent tort exception to the economic loss rule, but held that the alleged tort is not independent if it is "flowing from a contractual breach." <u>Airport Rent-a-Car v. Prevost Car. Inc</u>., 660 So. 2d 628, 632 (Fla. 1995).

The purport of this Court's jurisprudence is clear. Independent torts are not barred by the economic loss rule. A tort is independent if it does not flow from a breach of contract. When, as in the instant case, the fraudfeasor did not breach the contract, the fraud clearly constitutes an independent tort not barred by the economic loss rule.

> B. Other Courts Are Unanimous That The Economic Loss Rule Does Not Bar a Cause of Action for Fraud in The Inducement.

There is rarely this degree of unanimity on anything in

American law. With the exception of this Court, all of the appellate courts that review Florida decisions have now pronounced on the relationship between fraud in the inducement and Florida's economic loss rule. With the exception of the Second District, all of those courts have held that the one is not barred by the other. See Monco Enterprises, Inc. v. Ziebart Corp., 21 Fla. L. Weekly D 755, (Fla. 1st DCA, March 25, 1996); <u>HTP, Ltd. v. Lineas</u> Aereas Costarricenses, S.A., 661 So. 2d 1221 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995); Burton V. Linotype Co., 556 So. 2d 1126, 1128 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989); Jarmco, Inc. v. Polygard, Inc., 668 So. 2d 300 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996); TGI Development, Inc. v. CV Reit, Inc., 665 So. 2d 366 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996); Acadia Partners, L.P. v. Tompkins, 21 Fla. L. Weekly D795 (Fla. 5th DCA March 22, 1996) (by implication, citing Ashland_Oil, Inc. v. Pickard, 269 So. 2d 714 (Fla. 3d DCA 1972) ("...[0]ne who has been fraudulently induced into a contract may elect to stand by that contract and sue for damages for the fraud."); Lee v. Paxson, 641 So. 2d 145 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994) (Griffin J., concurring) (the "argument that the economic loss rule bars the fraudulent inducement claim is specious"); Pulte Home Corp. v. Osmose Wood Preserving, Inc., 60 F.3d 734, 742 (11th Cir. 1995) (applying Florida law); Brass v. NRC Corp., 826 F.Supp. 1427, 1428 (S.D. Fla. 1993); Kingston Square Tenants Ass'n v. Tuskegee Gardens Ltd., 792 F.Supp. 1566, 1576 (S.D. Fla. 1992); Royal Palm Say. Ass'n v. Pine Trace Corp., 716 F.Supp. 1416, 1420 (M.D. Fla. 1989) (by implication); Williams Electric Co. v. Honevwell, Inc., 772 F.Supp. 1225, 1238 (N.D. Fla. 1991).

The unanimity does not stop at Florida's borders. Other American jurisdictions agree. It would be superfluous to cite to

the opinions, since briefs in similar cases now before this Court² have done so. The fact is that diligent research fails to reveal a single case in any American court in which the economic loss rule bars the cause of action for fraud in the inducement when the fraud is independent of any breach of contract.

Both other common law and civilian jurisdictions reach the same result. In England, the leading case was decided by Lord Denning. <u>See Doyle v. Olky (Ironmongers) Ltd</u>., [1969] 2 Q.B. 158. <u>Doyle</u> involved the sale of a business, the nature of which had been misrepresented by the defendants. The court permitted the claim for fraud in the inducement, even though the damages coincided with those for breach of contract. <u>See also McGregor on</u> <u>Damages</u>, ¶ 1717-21 (15th ed., London 1988); A. S. Burrows, <u>Remedies for Torts and Breach of Contract</u> 150-54 (London 1987).

Among the civilian jurisdictions, those systems influenced by German law generally permit a plaintiff to sue both in contract and in tort, even for purely economic loss, provided that the elements of each cause of action are met. <u>See</u> P. Schlechtriem, <u>Schuldrecht: Besonderer Teil</u>, ¶ 924-25 (2d ed., Tübingen, 1991). The economic loss rule is present principally in legal systems influenced by French law. French case law has established a rule of non-cumulation of actions in tort and contract. (<u>la règle de non-cumul</u>.) The purpose of the rule is to protect the contract from being overwhelmed by duties derived from tort law. <u>See</u> G. Viney, <u>Traité de droit civil: Introduction à la</u> <u>responsabilité</u> ¶ 234 (2d ed., Paris 1995). To protect the contract, French law precludes a suit in tort, even for fraud, when

² For example, see Petitioner' Initial Brief on Merits at 19-25, <u>Woodson y.</u> <u>Martin</u>, Supreme Court Case No. 87,057.

the following three conditions have been met: there is a valid contract between the victim and the person responsible for the harm at the moment the harm occurs; the harm results from the nonperformances of an obligation born of that contract; and the harm is caused between persons who are parties to the contract or their privies. <u>See</u> G. Viney, <u>supra</u>, ¶ 181-87. In other words, in the most restrictive of the civilian jurisdictions, when, as in the case at bar, the harm does not arise from the breach of a valid contract, there is no bar to the suit in tort.

The collective judicial wisdom in modern legal systems around the globe rejects the <u>Woodson</u> result. This Court should do likewise.

C. The Purpose of the Economic Loss Rule Would Not Be Furthered By Barring the Action For Fraud in the Inducement in this Case.

The justification for Florida's economic loss rule, as this Court has repeatedly explained, is that contract principles are more appropriate than tort principles for resolving disputes related to the disruption of a contractual relationship that results merely in economic loss. <u>See AFM Corp. v. Southern Bell</u> <u>Tel. & Tel. Co., supra, 515 So. 2d at 181. Otherwise, "contract law would drown in a sea of tort.'" <u>Casa Clara Condominium Ass'n,</u> <u>Inc. v. Charley Toppino and Sons, Inc., supra, 620 So. 2d at 1247,</u> quoting <u>East River Steamship Corp. v. Transamerica Delaval, Inc</u>., 476 U.S. 858, 866 (1986).</u>

This Court has developed two criteria to determine whether the tortious conduct complained of is so closely related to the disruption of the contractual relationship that the tort

action should be barred, or rather, whether the action may proceed because the tort is independent. First, the tort action may proceed only if there is some additional conduct beyond that which results in the breach of contract. <u>AFM Corp. v. Southern Bell</u> <u>Tel. & Tel. Co., supra, 515 So. 2d at 181. Second, the aggrieved</u> party must not have been able to protect itself by agreement from the loss -- in other words, these are not "losses sustained by those who failed to bargain for adequate contractual remedies." <u>Casa Clara Condominium Ass'n, Inc. v. Charley Toppino and Sons,</u> <u>Inc., supra, 620 So. 2d at 1247.</u>

In the instant case, both elements of the independent tort action are present. First, the tortious conduct that LACSA complains of is entirely unrelated to any breach of contract -- in fact, in this case, there was no breach. LACSA's loss was caused not by Petitioners' breach, but rather by Petitioners' prior deception.

Second, LACSA could not have protected itself against Petitioners' fraud by agreement. Unlike the possibility of a product defect, which can be protected against by a warranty provision in an agreement, the risk to LACSA was unknown and was intentionally concealed by the fraudfeasors until they were forced to disclose the information during discovery, long after the settlement agreements were concluded.

The purpose of the economic loss rule is not furthered by precluding a suit for fraud in the inducement that does not coincide with any possible contract claim.

D. LACSA's Only Practical Alternative Was to Sue for Fraud.

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